
 

 

         

CITY OF SWEET HOME  
PLANNING COMMISSION  
MEETING AGENDA   
July 16, 2018, 7:00 p.m. 
City Hall Annex, 1140 12th Avenue 
Sweet Home, OR 97386 

 
This agenda had been updated as of July 12, 2018 

 
PLEASE silence all cell phones – Anyone who wishes to speak, please sign in. 

 
1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 

2. Roll Call of Commissioners:  

Lance Gatchell (Chairperson); Eva Jurney; Edith Wilcox; Greg Stephens; Henry Wolthuis, Thomas 
Herb 

3. Public Comment. This is an opportunity for members of the public to address the Planning 
Commission on topics that are not listed on the agenda. 

4. Approval of Minutes: June 4, 2018 and June 18, 2018. 

5. Public Hearing. File CU 18-04. An application for improvements to the Foster Fire Station. Location: 
1390 47th Ave, Sweet Home, OR.  Applicant: Sweet Home Fire and Ambulance District. This public 
hearing is continued from July 2, 2018.   

6. Public Hearing. Files CU 18-08 and VR 18-04. An application for a conditional use permit and 
variance for improvements to the Sweet Home Junior High School located at 880 22nd Avenue, 
Sweet Home, OR and 706 Mountain View Road, Sweet Home, OR. Applicant: Sweet Home School 
District #55. This public hearing is continued from July 2, 2018.    

7. Staff Update on Planning Projects 

8. Adjournment 

The location of the meeting is accessible to the disabled.  If you have a disability that requires 
accommodation, advanced notice is requested by notifying the Community and Economic Development 
Office at (541) 367-8113. 

Persons interested in commenting on these issues should submit testimony in writing to the Community and 
Economic Development Department Office located in City Hall prior to the hearing or attend the meeting 
and give testimony verbally.  Persons who wish to testify will be given the opportunity to do so by the Chair 
of the Commission at the Planning Commission meeting.  Such testimony should address the zoning 
ordinance criteria which are applicable to the request. The Sweet Home Planning Commission welcomes 
your interest in these agenda items. Pursuant to ORS 192.640, this agenda includes a list of the principal 
subjects anticipated to be considered at the meeting; however, the Commission may consider additional 
subjects as well.  This meeting is open to the public and interested citizens are invited to attend.  

The failure of an issue to be raised in a hearing, in person or by letter, or failure to provide sufficient 
specificity to afford the decision maker an opportunity to respond to the issue precludes appeal to the Land 
Use Board of Appeals based on that issue.  

A copy of the application, all documents and evidence relied upon by the applicant and applicable criteria 
are available for inspection at no cost and a copy will be provided at reasonable cost. A copy of the staff 
report will be available for inspection at no cost at least seven days prior to the hearing and a copy will be 
provided at reasonable cost. Please contact the Community and Economic Development Department at 
1140 12th Ave, Sweet Home, Oregon 97386; Phone: (541) 367-8113. 



 

 

Planning Commission Process and Procedure for Public Hearings 

o Open each Hearing individually 

o Review Hearing Procedure (SHMC 17.12.130) 

o Hearing Disclosure Statement (ORS 197.763)  

o At the commencement of a hearing under a comprehensive plan or land use regulation, a statement 

shall be made to those in attendance that: 

READ:  “The applicable substantive criteria are listed in the staff report. Testimony, arguments and 

evidence must be directed toward the criteria described or other criteria in the plan or land use 

regulation which the person believes to apply to the decision. Failure to raise an issue accompanied 

by statements or evidence sufficient to afford the decision maker and the parties an opportunity to 

respond to the issue precludes appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals based on that issue.” 

o Declarations by the Commission:  

o Personal Bias - Prejudice or prejudgment of the facts to such a degree that an official is incapable of 

making an objective decision based on the merits of the case. 

o Conflict of Interest - Does any member of the Commission or their immediate family have any 

financial or other interests in the application that has to be disclosed. 

o Ex Parte Information - The Planning Commission is bound to base their decision on information 

received in the Public Hearing and what is presented in testimony.  If a member of the Planning 

Commission has talked with an applicant or has information from outside the Public Hearing it needs 

to be shared at that time so that everyone in the audience has an opportunity to be aware of it and 

the rest of the Planning Commission is aware of it.  In that way it can be rebutted and can be 

discussed openly. 

o Staff Report 

o Review of application 

o Discussion of relative Criteria that must be used 

o During this presentation the members of the Planning Commission may ask questions of the staff to 

clarify the application or any part of the Zoning Ordinance or the applicable information. 

o Testimony 
o Applicant’s Testimony 
o Proponents’ Testimony 

o Testimony from those wishing to speak in favor of the application 
o Opponents’ Testimony 

o Testimony from those wishing to speak in opposition of the application 
o Neutral Testimony 

o Testimony from those that are neither in favor nor in opposition of the application. 
o Rebuttal  

o Close Public Hearing 
o Discussion and Decision among Planning Commissioners 

o Motion 
 Approval 
 Denial 
 Approval with Conditions 
 Continue  

o If there is an objection to a decision it can be appealed to the City Council.  The Planning Commission 
shall set the number of days for the appeal period.  At the time the City Council goes through the Public 
Hearing Process all over again. 
o Recommendation made by Planning Commission—City Council makes final decision. 
o If you have a question, please wait until appropriate time and then direct your questions to the 

Planning Commission.  Please speak one at a time so the recorder knows who is speaking. 



 

 

City of Sweet Home 
1140 12

th
 Avenue 

Sweet Home, OR  97386 
541-367-8969 

Fax 541-367-5007 
www.ci.sweet-home.or.us 

 

Community and Economic Development Department  
 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING  
June 4, 2018 
CITY HALL ANNEX - COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
1140 12TH AVENUE 
 
PUBLIC MEETING CALL TO ORDER AT 7:00 PM 
 
ROLL CALL ATTENDING: 
Edith Wilcox     Henry Wolthuis Eva Jurney Thomas Herb (Absent) 
Greg Stephens Lance Gatchell Anay Hausner   

 
STAFF:  
 Jerry Sorte, Community and Economic Development Director (CEDD) 

Angela Clegg, Project Assistant 
 

REGISTERED VISITORS:  
 
Larry Rodger, PO Box 597, Sweet Home, OR 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 
None  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Chairperson Gatchell opened discussion for corrections to the May 7, 2018 meeting 
minutes. 
 
Edits Included; None  
 
Comments Included; None 
 
Commissioner Wolthius moved to approve the minutes.  
Commissioner Jurney seconded the motion to approve. 
 
Question was called  
Aye (6)  
Commissioner Wolthuis, Vice-Chairperson Hausner, Commissioner Jurney, and 
Commissioner Stephens, Commissioner Wilcox, Chairperson Gatchell 
Nay (0) 
Absent (1) Thomas Herb 
Motion Passed Unanimously 6 Ayes to 0 Nays 1 Absent 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED AT 7:04PM  
 



 

    
    

  

Page 2 of 5
Planning Commission Hearing – June 4, 2018

Revision Date:07/12/18 ~ File Name: Planning Commission Minutes 06.04.18 DRAFT  

Chairperson Gatchell stated the following; 
 
The applicable substantive criteria are listed in the staff report. Testimony, arguments 
and evidence must be directed toward the criteria described or other criteria in the plan 
or land use regulation which the person believes to apply to the decision. Failure to raise 
an issue accompanied by statements or evidence sufficient to afford the decision maker 
and the parties an opportunity to respond to the issue precludes appeal to the Land Use 
Board of Appeals based on that issue.    
 
Chairperson Gatchell stated the first public hearing will be in regards to;  

 

VR 18-03 and CU 18-07 The applicant is requesting a front property line setback variance from 
20 feet to zero feet in order to add a twelve foot addition to the Full Gospel Church of Sweet 
Home building. The existing church building is currently located at, or in close proximity to the 
front property line along Main Street (Highway 20). The proposed addition would be added to 
the front of the building. The addition would accommodate three restrooms and a kitchen area. 
A setback variance is needed to accommodate the proposed addition to the existing building. 

The applicant was recently approved to convert the existing building on the property to a church 

by Conditional Use Approval CU 18-05. The proposed addition was depicted in the material 

reviewed under CU 18-05.  This application would also confirm that the addition may be used 

for church use, and that use was permitted through the prior land use review process for CU 18-

05. The subject property contains approximately 1.09 acres and is located in the Commercial 

Highway (C-2) Zone 

 
Chairperson Gatchell asked the Commissioners if they had any of the below stated in 
regards to the application;  
 
Personal Bias: None 
Conflict of Interest:  None 
Exparte: None 
 

The Commission passed a previous permit for this property; CU18-05.  Request for setback to go from 

twenty feet to zero feet. CEDD Jerry Sorte acknowledged that it is called out in the plot plan. CEDD Jerry 

Sorte directed the Commissioners to Section 6, draft considerations for the commissioners to use.  

Commissioner Gatchel asked if the existing building had a variance.  CEDD Jerry Sorte informed the 

commissioners that it does not.   

Applicant Larry Rodgers, PO Box 597, Sweet Home, OR testified that he is wanting to add twelve feet for a 

kitchen and bathrooms for the church.  He stated that it will be beneficial for the total use of the building 

and doesn’t feel that it will hinder views to Highway 20. 

Commissioner Wilcox asked if there are existing bathrooms. Mr. Rodger stated that the current bathroom 

is not useful for the future use of the building, and that they have to add bathrooms per code.  Once the 

new bathrooms are installed the existing bathroom will be turned into a storage closet. 

Commissioner Wolthius asked about the one access point.  He wanted to know if the applicant was going 

to talk to ODOT about creating a ‘U’ driveway and have parking access in the gated area.  Mr. Rodgers 

stated that the current lot fits approximately 30 cars.  They are going to leave the back lot gated and not 

use it for the time being.  There is street access to the gated lot but to use it for parking would require 

some additional work and permitting. 



 

    
    

  

Page 3 of 5
Planning Commission Hearing–June4, 2018

Revision Date:07/12/18~ File Name: Planning Commission Minutes 06.04.18 DRAFT  

CEDD Jerry Sorte stated that a question was raised about the whole building needing a setback.  Sorte 

stated that the addition was reviewed as a variance per code.  The Planning Commission previously 

approved conditional use permit CU 18-05; which allowed the subject property to be used for church use. 

See Attachment D of the staff report. The plot plan that was proposed in CU 18-05 is the same as 

proposed in these applications. At the time that the City reviewed CU 18-05, it was not identified that a 

front setback variance was also needed to accommodate the “proposed addition” that is depicted on the 

plot plan. The proposed addition would be approximately 12 feet by 48 feet. These applications, if 

approved, would remedy this situation and allow the applicant to develop their property as proposed with 

CU 18-05. This proposal has been given two file numbers. VR 18-03 references the criteria for the 

setback variance request. CU 18-07 references the criteria whereby certain modifications to existing 

conditional use permit approvals can be made without addressing all of the criteria for a new conditional 

use permit. 

 
Testimony in Opposition: None 
 
Neutral Testimony: None 
 
Rebuttal: None 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED AT 7:16PM  
 
Commissioner Wilcox moved to approve VR 18-03 and CU 18-07.  
Commissioner Jurney seconded the motion to approve 
 
Question was called  
Aye (6)  
Commissioner Wolthuis, Vice-Chairperson Hausner, Commissioner Jurney, and 
Commissioner Stephens, Commissioner Wilcox, Chairperson Gatchell 
Nay (0)  
Absent (1) Thomas Herb 
Motion Passed Unanimously 6 Ayes to 0 Nays 1 Absent 
 
PUBLIC HEARING RE-OPENED AT 7:19 PM 
 
Chairperson Gatchell stated the following; 
 
The applicable substantive criteria are listed in the staff report. Testimony, arguments 
and evidence must be directed toward the criteria described or other criteria in the plan 
or land use regulation which the person believes to apply to the decision. Failure to raise 
an issue accompanied by statements or evidence sufficient to afford the decision maker 
and the parties an opportunity to respond to the issue precludes appeal to the Land Use 
Board of Appeals based on that issue.    
 
Chairperson Gatchell stated the first public hearing will be in regards to;  

 

LA 18-01 CEDD Jerry Sorte asked the Commissioners how they would like to implement SB1051.  

CEDD Jerry Sorte put it into code (Reference LA18-01). Rules take effect July 1.  Under statute the City 

must apply state law.  The Commission will make suggestions to the City Council during a public hearing 

June 12. Changes to the code are in the Planning Commission packet.   

Testimony in Opposition: None 



 

    
    

  

Page 4 of 5
Planning Commission Hearing–June4, 2018

Revision Date:07/12/18~ File Name: Planning Commission Minutes 06.04.18 DRAFT  

 
Neutral Testimony: None 
 
Rebuttal: None 
Chairperson Gatchell thanked the applicant. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED AT 7:25PM 
 
Commissioner Jurney questioned the verbiage about churches.  CEDD Jerry Sorte put the definition 

according to statute.  Planning will need to work on defining it if it comes up. 

Commissioner Wolthius stated that he did not like the verbiage in 17.24.090(B) regarding the skirting 

[17.24.090  HOMES ON INDIVIDUAL LOTS (B) The base of a home must be enclosed 
continuously at the perimeter with either concrete, concrete block, brick, stone, or combination 
thereof, or shall have continuous skirting which matches the exterior.].  He feels that skirting 

shouldn’t be allowed, that a more aesthetic based be required.  CEDD Jerry Sorte informed 

Commissioner Wolthius that is how the statute reads, but will inform the commission if he learns of 

anything new from his colleagues.  Chairperson  Gatchel stated that it is a code issue and can be 

discussed during the next code update meeting. 

 
Commissioner Jurney moved to approve LA 18-02.  
Commissioner Wilcox seconded the motion to approve 
 
Question was called  
Aye (6)  
Commissioner Wolthuis, Vice-Chairperson Hausner, Commissioner Jurney, and 
Commissioner Stephens, Commissioner Wilcox, Chairperson Gatchell 
Nay (0) 
Absent (1) Thomas Herb 
Motion Passed Unanimously 6 Ayes to 0 Nays 1 Absent 
 
PROJECT UPDATES FROM PLANNING STAFF 
 
Discussion Ensued about the hiring of Code Enforcement Officer Tommy Mull.  They will be 
working on piecing the program together so that one person can accomplish the tasks.  He 
won’t be starting to patrol until a later date. 

There will be a planning commission meeting in two weeks to discuss the Conditional Use 
permit for Sankey Park.   

Mike Ramesnik is retiring June 15th.  There will be a party in the annex. 

Recruiting for the Planning position in on-going.  CEDD Jerry Sorte would like the entire 
department to be able to answer 80% of all calls.  He hopes to be at full staff in a month or two.  
There is an internal conversation going on about City recruitment methods. 

Code updates will happen after the planning position is filled and SC1051 is implemented 

Vice-Chairperson Hausner is resigning to go back to school.  She will be available until June 
24th. 

Chairperson Gatchel wants to do a Thank You celebration at the next meeting for Vice-
Chairman Hausner. 

 



 

    
    

  

Page 5 of 5
Planning Commission Hearing–June4, 2018

Revision Date:07/12/18~ File Name: Planning Commission Minutes 06.04.18 DRAFT  

 

Concerns Included:  

 There needs to be a discussion about how to zone public spaces.  There is currently no 
zone for parks so it has to be zoned as a community center. 

 
Ideas Included:  

 No new ideas presented. 

  
ADJOURNMENT 
 
PUBLIC MEETING CLOSED AT 7:45PM  
 
To the best of the recollection of the members of the Planning Commission, the 
foregoing is a true copy of the proceedings of the Public Meeting of June 4, 2018. 
             
            _______________________________ 
       Lance Gatchell Chairperson 
       Sweet Home Planning Commission 
 
Respectfully submitted by: Angela Clegg, Project Assistant 



 

 

City of Sweet Home 
1140 12

th
 Avenue 

Sweet Home, OR  97386 
541-367-8969 

Fax 541-367-5007 
www.ci.sweet-home.or.us 

 

Community and Economic Development Department  
 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING  
June 18, 2018 
CITY HALL ANNEX - COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
1140 12TH AVENUE 
 
PUBLIC MEETING CALL TO ORDER AT 7:00 PM 
 
ROLL CALL ATTENDING: 
Edith Wilcox     Henry Wolthuis Eva Jurney Thomas Herb  
Greg Stephens Lance Gatchell Anay Hausner   

 
STAFF:  
 Jerry Sorte, Community and Economic Development Director (CEDD) 
 Joe Graybill, Staff Engineer 

Angela Clegg, Project Assistant 
 

REGISTERED VISITORS:  
 Guy Dent, PO Box 437, Springfield, OR 97477 (owner of 951 15th Ave., Sweet Home)  

Sean Howells, 951 15th Avenue, Sweet Home, OR 97386, 541-367-8241,  
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 
None  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
No Minutes presented to approve. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED AT 7:02PM  
 
Chairperson Gatchell stated the following; 
 
The applicable substantive criteria are listed in the staff report. Testimony, arguments 
and evidence must be directed toward the criteria described or other criteria in the plan 
or land use regulation which the person believes to apply to the decision. Failure to raise 
an issue accompanied by statements or evidence sufficient to afford the decision maker 
and the parties an opportunity to respond to the issue precludes appeal to the Land Use 
Board of Appeals based on that issue.    
 
Chairperson Gatchell stated the first public hearing will be in regards to;  

 

CU 18-06 The City of Sweet Home is proposing new development at Sankey Park. Proposed 

improvements including the construction of a pedestrian bridge connection to the Jim Riggs Community 

Center (JRCC).  The City also plans to remove the existing restrooms, breezeway, and storage building 

and construct new restrooms in a different location closer to the central Weddle Bridge Plaza entry area.  



 

    
    

  

Page 2 of 5
Planning Commission Hearing– June 18, 2018

Revision Date:07/12/18~ File Name: Planning Commission Minutes 06.18.18 DRAFT  

Replacing the restrooms will require some extensions to the plumbing systems, sewer system, and 

electrical power systems installed to the previous manufactured home. Additional improvements include 

the construction of a new playground area, new pavilion construction, BMX track renovation, parking lot 

improvements, hard surface improvements, and path development.  

This application is being processed as development of a Community Center. The subject property is 

located in the Residential Low-Density (R1) Zone, the Residential High Density (R2), and Natural 

Resources (NR) Zone. Projects are proposed to be phased and completed if and when funding is 

available 

 
Chairperson Gatchell asked the Commissioners if they had any of the below stated in 
regards to the application;  
 
Personal Bias: None 
Conflict of Interest:  None 
Exparte: None 
 
CEDD Jerry Sorte read through an email response from the Department of State Lands that 
came in after comment period deadline; [We have completed our review of the Wetland Land 
Use Notification that was prepared for City of Sweet Home.    The WLUN form was submitted 
to the Department for review/response and given the file number WN2018-0291. 
 
The results and conclusions from that review are explained in the attached pdf documents.  If 
the attached documents are illegible or difficult to open, you may contact the Department and 
request paper copies.  Otherwise, please review the attachments carefully and direct any 
questions or comments to Jurisdiction Coordinator, Lauren Brown at (503) 986-5218 or 
lauren.brown@dsl.state.or.us.  Thank you for your interest in the project.]  The Application, 
11x17 Maps, and Attachment B were provided to the Commission in their packets. 
 
CEDD Jerry Sorte informed the commission that public parks are not called out in the Sweet 
Home Municipal Code. It was determined that the Community Center definition, which is broad, 
includes public parks.  The projects described are a direct result of the Sweet Home Park 
System Master Plan approved in January 2014.  From the Master Plan, the Conceptual 
Redesign was prepared and approved in October 2016.  The Park and Tree Committee 
approved of the Sankey Park Conceptual Design Plan and the Tentative Layout Facilities & 
Paths Plan, provided by Joe Graybill that is in the Commissioners packet.  Staff addressed the 
local standards for the bridge construction, and if approved may need to acquire additional State 
Permits. 
 
 
Chairperson Gatchell asked the applicant to speak to the request. 
 
CED Engineer Joe Graybill stated that the City is at the beginning stages of the Sankey Park 
project.  This project will be spread out over a few years with an emphasis on the pedestrian 
bridge, restroom facilities in the lower park, the gazebo, and the paths (reference the Concept 
Plan Map provided to the Commission). Staff has talked about recruiting volunteer monies for 
smaller items such as, but not limited to, picnic tables, benches, etc.  Much of the project will be 
ADA accessible so that it is viable for the community as a whole.  Primary areas for focused 
ADA compliance will be the pedestrian bridge, restroom facilities and the playground. 
 

mailto:lauren.brown@dsl.state.or.us


 

    
    

  

Page 3 of 5
Planning Commission Hearing– June 18, 2018

Revision Date:07/12/18~ File Name: Planning Commission Minutes 06.18.18 DRAFT  

CEDD Jerry Sorte added that the City would like to make Sankey Park more inviting to the 
community.  He believes that if you build a nice park, people will use it and the bad elements will 
leave.  With this public hearing, the City intended for the community to have a voice. 
 
Testimony in Favor: None 
 
Testimony in Opposition: Guy Dent, 3090 Yolanda Street, Springfield, OR is the owner of the 
property at 951 15th Street, Sweet Home, OR.  Mr. Dent has concerns about path C7 that would 
run right next to his property on 15th Street.  He doesn’t want people walking by his yard.  He 
feels that theft will increase if the path goes through to 15th Street.  He also feels that if a solid 
fence goes in it will attract graffiti.  Mr. Dent feels that his property on Elm Street will benefit from 
the park improvements.  Mr. Dent is also concerned about the riparian area.  Commissioner 
Journey made the comment that Mr. Dent’s concerns are concerns for any park in the state.  
Chair Person Gatchel stated to Mr. Dent that the City is trying to develop Sankey Park for the 
whole community.  Vice Chair Person Hausner stated to Mr. Dent that the Master Park Plan 
took four years to develop and was completed in 2014.  CEDD Jerry Sorte then suggested the 
commission hold comment until the public hearing is closed. 
 
Neutral Testimony: Sean Howells, 951 15th Street, Sweet Home, OR is the renter of the 
property on 15th Street.  Mr. Howells feels that opening the gate on the C7 path near his house 
would increase crime at his house.  Before the fence and gate went in he couldn’t leave 
anything in his backyard.  Since the gate was put in he hasn’t had theft problems.  Mr. Howells 
is also concerned about timber harvested within a fish bearing creek and wants to make sure 
the buffer rules are being followed.  He feels that no trail should go along the creek.  Despite his 
concern for the C7 trail and the riparian buffer Mr. Howells likes the idea of the park 
improvements.  Chair Person Gatchel replied to Mr. Howells that there is a fifty foot buffer within 
city limits.  CEDD Jerry Sorte added that there is a fifty foot buffer from the top of the bank to the 
creek, and that the City would have to comply with all state and federal standards.  Unrelated, 
Mr. Howells asked why Ames Creek got rerouted originally.   
 
Rebuttal: CED Engineer Joe Graybill told Mr. Dent and Mr. Howells that the gate near their 
property was opened years ago.  There was a lot of student traffic during that time.  Eventually 
the fence and gate were padlocked, but Mr. Graybill does not know if the City of Sweet Home or 
the Sweet Home School District put the padlock on.  The Dahlenberg Bridge is intended to be 
relocated possibly to the New City Hall building.  The bridge will not be destroyed.  Mr. Graybill 
informed Mr. Dent and Mr. Howells that the creek was reconfigured in the 1990’s so that people 
could not walk across the creek.  The C7 path could generate more use, but they can also have 
it lead to the overlook that is planned in place of the Dahlenberg Bridge. 
 
Mr Gatchel stated that the plan in front of them is a draft plan.  Mr. Graybill agreed and added 
that the construction of the path will not take place for a few years so path changes can be 
discussed further.  The path system is low priority 
 
Sean Morgan from the New Era asked if the gate could be locked at night and open during park 
hours. 
 
CEDD Director Jerry Sorte stated that the park and tree committee can discuss the C7 path 
further taking into consideration the concerns presented at the hearing. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED AT 7:47PM  
 



 

    
    

  

Page 4 of 5
Planning Commission Hearing– June 18, 2018

Revision Date:07/12/18~ File Name: Planning Commission Minutes 06.18.18 DRAFT  

Planning Commission discussed the application. 
 
Concerns Included:  

 Commissioner Herb asked if the City has the budget and guts to ask police to walk 
through once an hour.  

 Vice Chairperson Hausner said that she can see the concerns of Mr. Dent and Mr. 
Howells.  Maybe the path can be shortened so that it doesn’t go into the neighborhood.  
She stated that Venues will come in, but the Jamboree may not be the only venue. 

 Commissioner Wilcox’s only concern is the preservation of bandstand and gazebo. 
 
Considerations and Ideas Included:  

 Commissioner Herb stated that Sankey Park should stay a great city park.  People don’t 
buy or not buy property around it because of undesirables and the Jamboree. 

 Commissioner Stephens stated that he thought it was nice plan.  He feels that the 
permits will address any issues, and upgrading the park will help with attendance and 
keeping the undesirables out. 

 Vice Chairperson Hausner said that she can see the concerns of Mr. Dent and Mr 
Howells. 

 Vice Chairperson stated that she feels that parks help kids 

 Chairperson Gatchell feels it is a well put together plan, it is manageable, and the 
concerns should be addressed through the process. 

 Commissioner Wolthius feels that the path could be reworked.  The City could add 
shrubbery for a barrier.  Mr. Wolthius acknowledges the vandalism concerns, but is 
excited about the project. 

 Commissioner Jurney asked the commission to think about what Sweet Home will look 
like in 10 years.  Will Sankey Park be a nice park or the part that was here 10 years 
ago?  Jurney feels that a system of parks in town would be desirable.  She asked the 
commission to think about the risks versus the benefits because it is easier to focus on 
the negative.  If the City is willing to take risks then the park will turn out like the City’s 
vision.  There will be additional meetings for the community to voice their opinions.  
Agendas are always posted so the community is aware.  She is willing to take the risk 
and feels it is a good idea. 

 Commissioner Wilcox told the commission that she has experienced Sankey Park since 
1968.  She feels that the plan is a great concept and great idea.  She thinks that we 
could lock the bathrooms at night. 

 
Vice-Chairperson Hausner made a motion to approve the application request for land use 
file CU 18-06, proposing new development at Sankey Park. Proposed improvements including the 

construction of a pedestrian bridge connection to the Jim Riggs Community Center (JRCC).  The City also 

plans to remove the existing restrooms, breezeway, and storage building and construct new restrooms in 

a different location closer to the central Weddle Bridge Plaza entry area.  Replacing the restrooms will 

require some extensions to the plumbing systems, sewer system, and electrical power systems installed 

to the previous manufactured home. Additional improvements include the construction of a new 

playground area, new pavilion construction, BMX track renovation, parking lot improvements, hard 

surface improvements, and path development.  This application is being processed as development of a 

Community Center. The subject property is located in the Residential Low-Density (R1) Zone, the 

Residential High Density (R2), and Natural Resources (NR) Zone. Projects are proposed to be phased 

and completed if and when funding is available 

Commissioner Jurney seconded the motion. 
 



 

    
    

  

Page 5 of 5
Planning Commission Hearing– June 18, 2018

Revision Date: 07/12/18~ File Name: Planning Commission Minutes 06.18.18 DRAFT  

Question was called  
Aye (6)  
Commissioner Jurney, Commissioner Herb, Interim Chairperson Wolthuis, and Vice 
Chairperson Hausner, Commissioner Wilcox, Commissioner Stephens 
Nay (0) 
Motion Passed Unanimously 6 Ayes to 0 Nays  
 
PROJECT UPDATES FROM PLANNING STAFF 
 
Discussion Ensued CEDD Jerry Sorted informed the Commission that the next meeting will be 
Monday, July 2, 2018.  There will be two public hearings during that meeting. 
 
Vice Chairperson Hausner nominated Commissioner Jurney to be the next Vice Chairperson.  
Commissioner Stephens said he would like to wait until they have a new commissioner before 
they vote. 
 
 
PUBLIC MEETING CLOSED AT 8:05 PM  
 
To the best of the recollection of the members of the Planning Commission, the 
foregoing is a true copy of the proceedings of the Public Meeting of June 18, 2018. 
             
            _______________________________ 
       Lance Gatchell Chairperson 
       Sweet Home Planning Commission 
 
Respectfully submitted by: Lagea Mull, Project Assistant 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-04 1 

 

 

 

 

 
Staff Report Presented to the Planning Commission 

REQUEST: The applicant is seeking to improve the existing Foster Fire Station by remodeling 
the station; including the construction of an addition to the existing fire station building. The 
remodel would increase the space available for the storage of apparatus that are already 
housed at the station, and would increase overall storage at the station. The remodel would also 
accommodate 24-hour occupancy (living quarters) by Fire and Ambulance District personnel. 
The subject property is located in the R-1 zone and contains approximately 0.36 acre. 

This application is being processed as a use similar to a single family dwelling and similar to a 
utility facility pursuant to SHMC 17.12.080. 

APPLICANT/  
PROPERTY OWNER: Sweet Home Fire and Ambulance District 

FILE NUMBER: CU 18-04 

PROPERTY LOCATION: 1390 47th Ave, Sweet Home, OR 97386; Identified on the Linn 
County Assessor’s Map as 13S01E27CB Tax Lot 3700. 

REVIEW AND  
DECISION CRITERIA:  Sweet Home Municipal Code Section(s) 17.80.040 and 

17.12.080.     

HEARING DATE &TIME: Due to an error in notice, this public hearing will be opened on  
July 2, 2018 at 7:00 PM and immediately continued until July 16, 
2018 at 7:00 PM in the same location. Members of the public 
may provide testimony at the July 16, 2018 hearing or provide 
written comments prior to that hearing to the Community and 
Economic Development Department office. 

HEARING LOCATION: City Hall Annex behind City Hall at 1140 12th Avenue, Sweet 
Home, Oregon 97386 

STAFF CONTACT: Jerry Sorte, CED Director.  
 Phone: (541) 367-8113; Email: jsorte@ci.sweet-home.or.us 

REPORT DATE: July 2 2018 

I. PROJECT AND PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

The applicant is seeking to improve the existing Foster Fire Station by remodeling the station; 
including the construction of an addition to the existing fire station building. The remodel would 
increase the space available for the storage of apparatus that are already housed at the station, 
and would increase overall storage at the station. The remodel would also accommodate 24-
hour occupancy (living quarters) by Fire and Ambulance District personnel. The living quarters 
will be built to house three people with a small kitchen, living area, full bathroom, and two 
bedrooms. The subject property is located in the R-1 zone and contains approximately 0.36 
acre. 

City of Sweet Home 
1140 12

th
 Avenue 

Sweet Home, OR  97386 
541-367-8113 

Fax 541-367-5113 
www.ci.sweet-home.or.us 

 

Community and Economic Development Department 

mailto:jsorte@ci.sweet-home.or.us


 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-04 2 

 

ZONING AND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN DESIGNATIONS: 

Property Zoning Designation Comprehensive Plan Designation 

Subject Property Residential Low-Density (R-1),  Low Density Residential 

Property North Residential Low-Density (R-1) 
and Planned Development  

Low Density Residential 

Property East Residential Low-Density (R-1),  Low Density Residential 

Property South Residential Low-Density (R-1) Low Density Residential 

Property West Residential Low-Density (R-1) 
and Planned Development 

Low Density Residential 

 

Floodplain Based on a review of the FEMA FIRM Maps; Panel 41049C0916G dated 
September 29, 2010, none of the property is in a floodplain.  

Wetlands: The property is not in a Wetland.  

Access: The subject property has access from 47th Avenue. 

Services: The property is connected to City water and sewer. 

 

HEARING NOTICE: This application was received on February 21, 2018. A letter of Incomplete 
Application was sent to the applicant on March 23, 2018. A completed application was filed on 
April 11, 2018. At that time, the application was being reviewed as a ministerial modification to 
the existing development. The application included review of the storage component of the 
proposal only. On June 8, 2018, the applicant requested that the application be converted to a 
full conditional use permit in order to gain approval to use a portion of the addition for living 
quarters.  The 120-day completion deadline is October 6, 2018. Notice for this application and 
for the public hearing before the Planning Commission was mailed to City and residents within 
300 feet of the subject property, City Department Heads, and service agencies on June 13, 
2018. Notification was posted at City Hall on June 13, 2018. Notice of the hearing appeared in 
The New Era Newspaper on June 20, 2018; however, that notice included an error. A corrected 
notice was published in the June 27, 2018 New Era Newspaper, which explained that the July 2, 
2018 hearing would be continued to July 16, 2018. With this updated newspaper notice, and 
continuation of the public hearing until July 16, 2018, notice was provided as required by SHMC 
17.80.040 and 17.12.080.  

 

II. COMMENTS 

Building: The Building Program has no issues with this request for a 
Conditional Use.   

Engineering: Regarding the Planning Action CU 18-04 for the Sweet Home 
Ambulance & Fire District’s proposed two story addition at their 47th 
Ave Station, the City has full services available in 47th Ave.  The 
facility is metered and connected to the 10” waterline in 47th Ave, and 
is connected to the 10” sanitary sewer as well.   

 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-04 3 

 

 The existing structure has a city standard concrete Hard Surface 
Approach (HSA) apron.  The width of the apron is approximately 44 ft.  
With the addition of the garage bays on the south end of the structure, 
the concrete apron will need to widen for the additional frontage.   

 It appears the residents to the rear of the building sometimes use the 
gravel drive area next to the building.  These homes have access to 
47th Ave through existing easements that go around the building on 
the north side, and are on the adjoining property.  No easements on 
the District property are known of at this time. 

 

III.   REVIEW AND DECISION CRITERIA 

The review and decision criteria for a conditional use permit are listed below in bold. Staff 
findings and analysis are provided under each review and decision criterion.  

A. The request complies with the requirements of the underlying zone or overlay zone, 
city codes, state and federal laws. [SHMC 17.80.040(A)] 
 

B. AUTHORIZATION OF SIMILAR USES. The city may permit uses in a zone similar to 
uses permitted outright in that zone. [SHMC 17.12.080 ]  

a. In an R-1 zone, the following primary residential uses and their accessory 
uses are permitted outright: 

i. Single-family dwelling; [SHMC 17.24.020(A)] 
b. In an R-1 zone, the following uses and their accessory uses may be permitted 

subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.80: 
i.   Public utility facility; [SHMC 17.24.030(H)] 

C. MODIFICATION TO APPROVED PLANS AND DEVELOPMENTS AND TRANSFERS. 
17.80.060   

a. Acceptable modification requests of an approved plan or existing 
development may be processed as a ministerial decision with, no notice or 
hearing, by the City Planner only if the following threshold criteria can be 
met: 

i. There will be no change in land use; 
ii. The proposed change does not result in an increase in the overall 

impacts to adjacent properties; 
iii. There is no increase in the amount of operational activity; 
iv. The proposed change does not violate the standards of the land use 

zone 
v. The proposed change does not result in a change to lot or parcel 

boundary lines. [SHMC 17.80.060(A)] 
b. Proposed changes that do not meet the above criteria shall be processed as a 

new application. [SHMC 17.80.060(B)] 

Staff Findings: The Foster Fire Station was approved through a conditional use permit process 
in 1982.  The subject property is approximately 0.36 acres in size. The property is owned by the 
City of Sweet Home; however, the station is managed by the Sweet Home Fire and Ambulance 
District. The property is located in the Residential Low-Density (R-1) Zone. The property is not 
located in a floodplain or in a wetland. 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-04 4 

 

The proposed remodel and addition would include new structural development.  The applicant 
plans to remodel the existing building and add a third bay door to accommodate fire apparatus. 
The third bay door would allow the three fire apparatus stored at the fire station to each have 
their own bay door. The proposed addition and remodel would also allow the fire station to 
house district staff. According to the application the remodel would be constructed to house 
three people with a small kitchen, living area, full bathroom, and two bedrooms.  

The fire station is an existing development that was authorized under a conditional use permit in 
the R-1 zone. As such, modifications to existing development may be authorized without going 
through a land use approval under SHMC 17.80.060 if there is not increase in operational 
activity or change in overall impacts to the adjacent properties. SHMC 17.80.060(B) clarifies that 
where a proposal may have additional impacts on the neighborhood, then the proposal should 
be processes as a new application.  

It is staff’s opinion that an expansion for storage of existing fire apparatus and equipment could 
be authorized under the ministerial modification standards since having more space for existing 
equipment would not significantly increase the impacts of the station on the neighborhood. The 
addition of living quarters; however, could potentially have an impact since there would be an 
increase of on-site staff presence.  

It is staff’s recommendation to review this proposal under the standards for a new conditional 
use permit. This provides the community an opportunity to raise or waive potential issues. The 
expansion is substantively similar to construction of a dwelling unit and the construction of a 
public utility in a residential zone. 

Staff finds that the applicant’s proposal would comply with the requirements of the R-1 zone. 
The addition would be substantively similar to the addition of a dwelling on the property, and the 
operation of a fire station has been existing at the site for over 30 years. The Sweet Home Fire 
and Ambulance District would need to obtain all necessary permits building, electrical, 
mechanical, and plumbing permits.   

The application complies with this criterion. 

D. The site size, dimensions, location, topography and access are adequate for the 
needs of the proposed use, considering, but not limited to, the following: 

      1.   Building size; 

      2.   Parking; 

      3.   Traffic; 

      4.   Noise; 

      5.   Vibration; 

      6.   Exhaust and emissions; 

      7.   Light and glare; 

      8.   Erosion; 

      9.   Odor; 

      10.   Dust; 

      11.   Visibility; 

      12.   Safety; 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-04 5 

 

      13.   Building, landscaping or street features. [SHMC 17.80.040(B)] 

Staff Findings: The applicant is seeking to improve the existing Foster Fire Station by 
remodeling the station; including the construction of an addition to the existing fire station 
building. The remodel would increase the space available for the storage of apparatus that are 
already housed at the station, and would increase overall storage at the station. The remodel 
would also accommodate 24-hour occupancy (living quarters) by Ambulance and Fire District 
personnel.  Staff finds that the subject property would accommodate the needs of the remodel 
as described below. 

1. Building size – The addition that would be constructed as a part of this request includes a 
24-hour occupancy (living quarters) by Ambulance and Fire District personnel. The existing 
station property is adequate to accommodate the proposed addition. See Attachment A. 
The addition would be subject to all applicable siting requirements, including the setback, 
height, and lot coverage requirements of the R-1 zone.  

2. Parking– The existing public parking off 47th Avenue will remain unchanged. The applicant 
would be required to provide the minimum parking requirements listed in SHMC 
17.08.090(H). This would require at least two spaces for the dwelling (living quarters) 
component of the use pursuant to SHMC 17.08.090(H)(1). Staff finds that the remaining 
portion of the fire station would be similar to a freight depot or truck terminal; which 
requires one space per two employees working on the premises during the largest shift at 
peak season. SHMC 17.08.090(H)(20). Parking is not permitted in 20-foot front yard 
adjacent to 47th Ave, which leaves approximately 30 feet in depth along the front of the 
building to be used for parking.  Upon submission of building permits, the applicant shall 
submit a parking plan that complies with all of the relevant standards of SHMC 17.08.090.     

3. Traffic – Staff anticipates that the change in traffic activity in the area will be minimal. The 
onsite residency of three staff members will amount to traffic levels that are typical to a 
single family dwelling. 

4. Noise – Staff has not identified any noise impacts from the surrounding area that would 
negatively impact the expanded fire station. 

5. Vibration – Staff has not identified any vibration impacts from the surrounding area that 
would negatively impact the proposed remodel or addition. 

6. Exhaust and emissions – Staff has not identified any exhaust or emission impacts from the 
surrounding area that would negatively impact the proposed remodel or addition. 

7. Light and glare – Staff has not identified any light or glare impacts from the surrounding 
area that would negatively impact the proposed remodel or addition. 

8. Erosion – Staff has not identified any erosion impacts from the surrounding area that would 
negatively impact the proposed remodel or addition.  

9. Odor – Staff has not identified any odor impacts from the surrounding area that would 
negatively impact the proposed remodel or addition. 

10. Dust – Staff identified short-term dust impacts during construction of the proposed remodel 
and addition. 

11. Visibility – Staff has not identified any visibility concerns within the surrounding area that 
would negatively impact the proposed remodel or addition. 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-04 6 

 

12. Safety – Staff has not identified any significant safety concerns associated with the subject 
property or surrounding area that would negatively impact the proposed remodel or 
addition.  

13. Building, landscaping or street features – Staff has not identified any significant building, 
landscaping, or street features that would negatively impact the operation of the expanded 
fire station.  

E. Any negative impacts of the proposed use on adjacent properties and on the public 
can be mitigated through application of other code standards, or other reasonable 
conditions of approval that include but are not limited to those listed in this chapter. 
[SHMC 17.80.040(C)] 

Staff Findings: This proposal would enhance facilities at the Foster Fire Station. The 
improvements are intended provide more space for apparatus already housed in the Foster Fire 
Station.  The Sweet Home Fire and Ambulance District intend to separate the current firefighter 
PPE from the apparatus bays for safer storage.  The Sweet Home Fire and Ambulance District 
also intend to build an upper level that would be used for living quarters. 

The Foster Fire Station would increase in size, and house three on-site staff members. When 
calls occur, a total of seven or eight people could use the station to respond to an emergency. 
According to the information in the application, this is consistent with what the number of people 
who respond to calls during emergencies in the past. Staff has not identified an significant 
negative impacts of the proposed use on adjacent properties. 

 

F. All required public facilities have adequate capacity, as determined by the city, to 
serve the proposed use. [SHMC 17.80.040(D)] 

Staff Findings: As stated by the City’s Staff Engineer: 

Regarding the Planning Action CU 18-04 for the Sweet Home Ambulance & Fire 
District’s proposed two story addition at their 47th Ave Station, the City has full services 
available in 47th Ave.  The facility is metered and connected to the 10” waterline in 47th 
Ave, and is connected to the 10” sanitary sewer as well.   

The existing structure has a city standard concrete Hard Surface Approach (HSA) apron.  
The width of the apron is approximately 44 ft.  With the addition of the garage bays on 
the south end of the structure, the concrete apron will need to widen for the additional 
frontage.   

It appears the residents to the rear of the building sometimes use the gravel drive area 
next to the building.  These homes have access to 47th Ave through existing easements 
that go around the building on the north side, and are on the adjoining property.  No 
easements on the District property are known of at this time. 

This project is an upgrade to the existing Foster Fire Station, and has all necessary utilities. The 
Foster Fire Station has vehicular access from 47th Avenue.  The Foster Fire Station has one 
existing parking lot, and is already served by City water and sewer. It is possible that if the 
applicant seeks to widen the concrete apron for access to 47th Ave, that a variance may be 
needed to SHMC 17.08.100(C). A variance was not requested as a part of this application, and 
if it is required, staff thinks that it is appropriate to review the variance through a separate 
application process. 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-04 7 

 

Based on the findings above, staff concludes that there is adequate water, sewer, storm 
drainage, and parking services available to support the Foster Fire Station addition. 

 

G. In approving a conditional use permit application, the Planning Commission may 
impose, in addition to those standards and requirements expressly specified by this 
chapter, additional conditions determined to be necessary to assure that the 
proposed development meets the decision criteria as well as the best interests of 
the surrounding properties, the neighborhood, and the city as a whole.  [SHMC 
17.80.050] 

Staff Findings: This provision of the SHMC allows the Planning Commission to impose 
conditions of approval. This is an opportunity for the Planning Commission to determine if 
conditions are needed in order to ensure compliance with the "decision criteria as well as the 
best interests of the surrounding properties, the neighborhood, and the city as a whole." As 
specified in SHMC 17.80.050, conditions could include, but are not limited to: expanding 
setbacks, limiting hours of operation, requiring site or architectural design features, imposing 
additional sign standards, and so forth.  

Staff recommends the conditions of approval listed in Section IV. These conditions are intended 
to ensure that development is consistent with the proposal reviewed in this application and all 
applicable review and decision criteria. Staff proposes conditions of approval that state: 

1. Improvements shall be located in substantially the locations reviewed in this application 
and depicted on Attachment A. 

2. All new exterior lighting shall be located in such a manner so as not to face directly, 
shine or reflect glare onto a street, a highway or a property in a residential zone.  

While not specifically listed as conditions, the applicant would still need to comply with all 
existing local, state, and federal standards that apply to the application. These standards 
include, but are not limited to the following: 

1. Prior to development, the applicant shall obtain all necessary local, state, and federal 
permits. Permits may include, but are not limited to building, mechanical, and plumbing 
permits from the Sweet Home Building Division; and electrical permits from the Linn 
County Planning and Building Department.  

2. Parking shall comply with all applicable sections of SHMC 17.08.090; including but not 
limited to all Stormwater drainage, surfacing, and dimensional standards. 

3. New buildings and structures shall meet the applicable setback requirements of the R-1 
zone as listed in SHMC 17.24.050. 

H. A conditional use permit shall be void one year after the date of the Planning 
Commission approval if the use has not been substantially established within that 
time period. [SHMC 17.80.070] 

Staff Findings: As required under this section, the conditional use permit shall be void one (1) 
year after the date of the Planning Commission approval if the use has not been substantially 
established, as defined under SHMC 17.80.070(A), within that time period. The City Planner 
may grant one extension of up to one year for a conditional use permit that contained a one 
year initial duration upon written request of the applicant and prior to the expiration of the 
approved period. Requests other than a one year request made prior to the expiration of the 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-04 8 

 

approved period must be approved by the Planning Commission. A conditional use permit not 
meeting the above time frames will be expired and a new application will be required. 

 

IV. CONCLUSION  

If the Planning Commission approves this application, staff recommends that the conditions of 
approval listed below be required in order to ensure that the application is consistent with the 
findings in the Review and Decision Criteria (Section III) and as required by the Sweet Home 
Municipal Code and other provisions of law. Appeals to the Land Use Board of Appeals (LUBA) 
may only be based on Review and Decision Criteria contained in Section III.  

Recommended Conditions of Approval for CU 18-04: 

1. Improvements shall be located in substantially the locations reviewed in this application 
and depicted on Attachment A. 

2. All new exterior lighting shall be located in such a manner so as not to face directly, 
shine or reflect glare onto a street, a highway or a property in a residential zone.  

V. PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION 

In taking action on a Conditional Use permit application, the Planning Commission will hold a 
public hearing at which it may either approve or deny the application.  If the application is 
denied, the action must be based on the applicable review and decision criteria. If approved, the 
Planning Commission may impose conditions of approval.  Staff’s recommended conditions are 
included in Section IV. 

Appeal Period: Staff’s recommendation is that the Planning Commission’s decision on this 
matter be subject to a 12-day appeal period from the date that the notice of decision is mailed.  

Order: After the Planning Commission makes a decision, staff recommends that the Planning 
Commission direct staff to prepare an order that is signed by the Chairperson of the Planning 
Commission. The Order would memorialize the decision and provide the official list of conditions 
(if any) that apply to the approval; if the application is approved. 

Motion: 

After opening the public hearing and receiving testimony, the Planning Commission’s options 
include the following: 

1. Move to approve application CU 18-04 and adopt the findings of fact listed in Section III 
of the Staff Report; including the conditions of approval listed in Section IV of the Staff 
Report, the setting of a 12-day appeal period from the date of the mailing of the decision, 
and direct staff to prepare an order to be signed by the Chair to memorialize this 
decision. 

2. Move to deny application CU 18-04 (make findings of fact specifying why the project is 
denied); including the setting of a 12-day appeal period from the date of mailing of the 
decision, and direct staff to prepare an order to be signed by the Chair to memorialize 
this decision. 

3. Move to continue the public hearing to a date and time certain (specify); or 

4. Other. 

 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-04 9 

 

 

VI. ATTACHMENTS 

A. Subject Property Map 

B. File record as of July 3, 2018 



Foster Fire Station
Proposed Addition
1390 47th Ave

47
TH

 AV
E

47
TH

 AV
E

47
TH

 AV
E

NANDINA ST

¯ 0 40 80 120 16020
Feet 1 inch = 80 feet

City of Sweet Home Planning Map
CU 18-04

Proposed Foster Fire Station Addition

13S01E27CB Tax Lot 3700
1390 47th Ave, Sweet Home
Sweet Home, OR 97386

Legend
taxlots

jsorte
Typewriter
Attachment A



jsorte
Typewriter
Attachment B

















































































 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 1 

 

 

 

 

 
Staff Report Presented to the Planning Commission 

 

REQUEST SUMMARY: The applicant is seeking land use approval for improvements to the 
Sweet Home Junior High School; which is located in the R-1 Zone. The applicant is also 
seeking a variance to reduce the required number of parking spaces required for the school.  
   

APPLICANT/  
PROPERTY OWNER: Sweet Home School District 

FILE NUMBER: CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 

PROPERTY LOCATION: 706 Mountain View Road, Sweet Home, OR; Identified on the 
Assessment Map as 13S01E32CB Tax Lot 800; and 880 22nd 
Avenue; Identified on the Assessment Map as 13S01E32CB Tax 
Lot 100 

REVIEW AND  
DECISION CRITERIA:  Sweet Home Municipal Code Section(s) 17.88.040, 17.80.040     

HEARING DATE &TIME: Due to an error in notice, this public hearing will be opened July 
2, 2018 at 7:00 PM and immediately continued until July 16, 
2018 at 7:00 PM in the same location. Members of the public 
may provide testimony at the July 16, 2018 hearing or provide 
written comments prior to that hearing to the Community and 
Economic Development Department office. 

HEARING LOCATION: City Hall Annex, Council Chambers behind City Hall at 1140 12th 
Avenue, Sweet Home, Oregon 97386 

STAFF CONTACT: Jerry Sorte, CED Director 
 Phone: (541) 367-8113; Email: jsorte@ci.sweet-home.or.us 
 
REPORT DATE: June 25, 2018 

I. PROJECT REQUEST AND PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 
 

REQUEST: The Sweet Home School District is requesting land use approval to make 
improvements to the Sweet Home Junior High School. Improvements include expanding the 
current Sweet Home Junior High School campus to include an adjacent District-owned property 
located at 706 Mountain View Road, Sweet Home, OR. The improvements also include 
construction of a gymnasium, administrative facilities, a cafeteria addition, parking 
improvements, bus routing improvements, and playground improvements. The existing Junior 
High School building contains approximately 52,580 square feet. Once renovation is completed, 
the building will contain either 64,439 square feet or 65,350 square feet; depending on the size 
of the gymnasium that is constructed. 

City of Sweet Home 
1140 12

th
 Avenue 

Sweet Home, OR  97386 
541-367-8113 

Fax 541-367-5113 
www.ci.sweet-home.or.us 

 

Community and Economic Development Department 

mailto:jsorte@ci.sweet-home.or.us


 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 2 

 

The subject property is located in the Residential Low-Density (R-1) Zone. A public school is a 
use in the R-1 zone that can be established or expanded through a conditional use permit 
application process. The applicant’s Proposed Schematic Site Plan (Plot Plan) is included as 
Attachment A. 

The Sweet Home School District is also requesting a variance in order to reduce the required 
parking for the school from up to 210 to 62. The proposed 62 parking spaces is an increase 
over the existing 46 spaces at the Junior High School’s current parking lot.  

As stated by the applicant, the purpose of the Sweet Home Junior High School Renovation 
Project would make needed improvements to extend the school's lifespan, improve safety and 
security, and make it more functional. Specifically, the project includes the replacement of 
modular buildings at the Sweet Home Junior High School with new construction attached to the 
main building. The modular buildings were purchased in 1969 from Western Homes and house 
a multipurpose room/cafeteria and two classrooms.  Facility improvements to the Junior High 
School’s main building include electrical, HVAC, mechanical systems, fire suppression systems, 
and seismic upgrades to extend the school’s useful life. The project would include the 
installation of a tapered slope insulated roof panel system to the School’s flat roof. This would 
provide sufficient slope for water to drain and stay out of the building instead of forming puddles 
in low spots causing leaks and water damage. The project includes construction of a safety 
vestibule entrance at the School with adjoining office space providing access control. Parking lot 
safety improvements include 16 additional on-site parking spaces, a pause parking lane for 
student drop-off/pick-up and a separate bus loop. The improvements would include the 
replacement of windows to improve energy efficiency and replacement of siding to protect the 
structure and update the building’s appearance. Technology upgrades would be made 
throughout the school. 

 A new auxiliary gym would be constructed and would replace the existing multi-purpose room. 
The auxiliary gym will help provide needed space for PE classes so students can meet newly 
established state PE requirements. Improvements include a new warming kitchen and cafeteria 
overlooking school playing fields and Marks Ridge. Renovated Basic Life Skills, media center, 
and design studio spaces. 

LOCATION: The property acquired by the Sweet Home School District that would be added to 
the school for use is located at 706 Mountain View Road, Sweet Home, OR and contains 
approximately 0.57 acres. The School District Property that contains Sweet Home Junior High 
totals approximately 28.82 acres (includes adjacent athletic fields), and is located in the 
Residential Low-Density (R-1) Zone. The subject property is identified on the Linn County 
Assessor’s Map as 13S01E32CB Tax Lots 100 and 800. The project location is identified on 
Attachments A and B. 
 

ZONING AND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN DESIGNATIONS: 

Property Zoning Designation Comprehensive Plan Designation 

Subject Property Residential Low-Density (R-1),  Public and Low Density Residential 

Property North Residential High-Density (R-2) 
and Commercial Highway (C-2)  

Residential High-Density           
Commercial Highway  

Property East Residential Low-Density (R-1), 
and Residential High-Density (R-
2). 

Low, Medium and High Density 
Residential. 

Property South Residential Low-Density (R-1) Low Density Residential 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 3 

 

Property West Residential Low-Density (R-1), 
and  Residential High-Density 
(R-2). 

Low and Medium Density Residential, 
and Public. 

 

Floodplain Based on a review of the 41043C0914G, dated 9/29/2010, both properties 
are located outside of the 100-year floodplain. 

Wetlands: The subject properties are not located in a designated wetland.  

Access: The subject property has access from 22nd Avenue and Mountain View Road. 

Services: The property is connected to City water and sewer. 

 

HEARING NOTICE: This application was received on May 31, 2018. The 120-day completion 
deadline is September 28, 2018. Notice for this application and for the public hearing before the 
Planning Commission was mailed to property owners and residents within 300 feet of the 
subject property, City Department Heads, and service agencies on June 12, 2018. Notification 
was posted at City Hall on June 12, 2018. Notice of the hearing appeared in The New Era 
Newspaper on June 20, 2018. The June 20, 2018 notice contained an error and did not notice 
the correct hearing date. Due to an error in the original newspaper notice, and in order to 
provide the required public notification, the public hearing will be opened at the Planning 
Commission’s meeting on July 2, 2018 at 7:00 PM at the City Hall Annex behind City Hall at 
1140 12th Avenue, Sweet Home, Oregon 97386 and immediately continued until July 16, 2018 
at 7:00 PM in the same location. Members of the public that would like to provide testimony at 
the hearing will be provided that opportunity at the July 16, 2018 hearings. Notice was provided 
as required by SHMC 17.12.120.  

 

II. COMMENTS 

Building Division: The Building Program has no direct issues with this project.  However, it 
is noted that access for the ‘Bus Loop’ and the south portion of the building crosses property 
lines.  Even though the school district owns both parcels, it is suggested that either the parcels 
are combined, or an access easement is obtained. 

Engineering Division: The following comments are regarding the City CEDD Engineering 
Review of the Conditional Use Application for the Jr High Reconstruction Project. 

Both Mountain View Road and 22nd Ave have full city utilities, and are available when needed 
for expansion of the existing services.  For example the new construction of the buildings at the 
west end may have fire hydrant placement requirements (depending on Fire Code 
Standards).  The city sewer main runs along the south boundary of the school property, and so 
doing crosses the adjacent properties at an angle too.  The location will not affect the driveway 
or parking areas.  

The traffic in and out of the Junior High School parking lot has been problematic for some 
time.  Transient parking on 22nd Ave – on both sides – have created a need for the city to have 
installed and painted a no parking yellow curb zone on the east side to allow room for buses to 
swing wide as they exit the lot to 22nd Ave.  Parental drop and pick-up of students, happens on 
22nd Ave a lot due to the limited and unavailable parking within the existing lot.   

This project will ease some the traffic conflicts and loading of the existing single driveway to 22nd 
Ave.   The driveways proposed will be separated by use, 22nd Ave will be for staff and parents, 
and a new driveway facing Mountain View Road will be for School Bus loading and unloading 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 4 

 

only.  With the District purchasing the corner property adjacent to the school, the new 22nd Ave 
access will be to a larger and more functional space layout, as well as provide onsite curb line 
drop-off space for parents and students.  The driveway entrance will be wider with two out-lanes 
and one in-lane.  The south edge of the 22nd Ave driveway will need to be at least 30 feet from 
the curb radius at the nearby intersection with Mountain View Road.   

Extensive conversations have been ongoing with the School District for some time leading up to 
this point.  We have evaluated options of driveway splits, driveway locations, and sidewalk 
installations.  A Traffic Impact Study would normally be required for a project such as this, 
however with the capacity and use of the property not changing – same number of students and 
staff that is – City engineering staff felt it would not be needed at this time.  Considering the 
limited number of options, and planned improvements to the traffic separation of buses and 
other vehicles, circulation in and around the school will be improved.   Various bus entrance 
configurations were and may still be looked at, such as right-in right-out, center medians, etc., 
but at the moment the open driveway lanes provides the best clearance for bus turning 
operations.  Signage that is clear and concise should be placed so that it is unambiguous that it 
is for bus only.   

Sweet Home staff will also be working on a 2018 Safe Routes to School (SRTS) grant process 
this summer (Due Oct 15) for street and sidewalk improvements in the area.  The priority of this 
grant is pedestrian safety around and to the school, on Mountain View Road, and the traffic flow 
at the intersection at 22nd Ave.  This grant will include the continuation of sidewalks built as part 
of the school project, southward along Mountain View Road to Ames Creek Road, corner ADA 
ramps, infill behind the existing curb on Ames Creek Road to 18th Ave, and new sidewalks and 
curbs on 18th Ave, so that people do not have to walk in the street.   This grant will also evaluate 
the possibility of a small format traffic circle at Mountain View Road and 22nd Ave to slow traffic, 
and facilitate left turn actions to alleviate backups.   

Overall staff feels that the proposed layout is a good solution to the traffic control issues 
encountered today. 
  

III.   REVIEW AND DECISION CRITERIA CU 18-08 

The review and decision criteria for a conditional use permit are listed below in bold. Staff 
findings and analysis are provided under each review and decision criterion.  

A. The request complies with the requirements of the underlying zone or overlay 
zone, city codes, state and federal laws. [SHMC 17.80.040(A)] 

a. [Conditional use permitted in the R-1 zone] Public school and private school 
offering curricula similar to public school [SHMC 17.24.030(G)] 

b. Off-Street Parking Requirements. [SHMC 17.08.090(H)] 

Use Requirement 

6. Place of public assembly 
including church, auditorium, 
gymnasium, community center, 
theater, club, lodge hall or fraternal 
organization 

  
 

One space per four seats or eight feet 
of bench length in the main 
auditorium, or if seating is not fixed to 
the floor, one space per 60 square feet 
of floor area 

9. Elementary, junior high school 
  

Two spaces per classroom and 
special instruction area, or the 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 5 

 

 

 

 

Staff Findings: The property at 706 Mountain View Road is approximately 0.6 acres in size, and 
the property at 880 22nd Avenue is approximately 28.5 acres. Both properties are located on 
property owned by the Sweet Home School District and contain approximately 29.1 acres. The 
properties are located in the Residential Low-Density (R-1) Zone. The tracts are not located in a 
flood zone or a wetland.   

The proposed improvements to the Sweet Home Junior High would add an auxiliary gym, and 
reconfigure bus access to the property. The development in total has the potential to change or 
increase the impacts that the school will have on the neighborhood. These improvements may 
be reviewed under the criteria for a conditional use permit pursuant to SHMC 17.24.030(G). The 
parking requirements for the school, include the requirements that the school provide the 
number of parking spaces specified in the table listed under SHMC 17.08.090(H). According to 
the applicant there are 22 classrooms and two computer lab special instruction areas. When the 
improvements are complete, there will be 20 classrooms with no computer labs. Under SHMC 
17.08.090(H)(9), 40 parking spaces would be required based on the number of classrooms. 
However, the required spaces under the place of assembly standards would exceed the 
classroom standards, and would apply in this instance. 

According to the applicant’s statements dated June 6, 2018 and June 12, 2018, the existing 
gymnasium contains 5,732 square feet. The auxiliary gym may contain from 6,011 square feet 
up to 6,842 square feet depending on the final plans chosen by the School District. Assuming 
the larger size for the auxiliary gymnasium at 6,842 square feet, that would bring the total 
proposed gymnasium capacity to 12,574 square feet. At one space per 60 square feet of floor 
area, the gymnasiums would require 210 parking spaces. The applicant is proposing to provide 
62 parking spaces. Consequently, a variance is needed, and the applicant has applied for a 
variance, identified as VR 18-04.  

The application complies with this criterion.  
 

B. The site size, dimensions, location, topography and access are adequate for the 
needs of the proposed use, considering, but not limited to, the following: 

      1.   Building size; 

      2.   Parking; 

      3.   Traffic; 

      4.   Noise; 

      5.   Vibration; 

      6.   Exhaust and emissions; 

      7.   Light and glare; 

      8.   Erosion; 

      9.   Odor; 

      10.   Dust; 

      11.   Visibility; 

      12.   Safety; 

 requirement for a place of public 
assembly, whichever is the greater 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 6 

 

      13.   Building, landscaping or street features. [SHMC 17.80.040(B)] 

Staff Findings: The applicant is requesting this conditional use permit in order to make needed 
improvements to the Sweet Home Junior High School. According to the applicant, 
improvements are needed to extend the school's lifespan, improve safety and security, and 
make it more functional. The Sweet Home Junior High School is existing, and would be 
increased in size from 52,580 square feet to up to 65,350 square feet. 
 
1. Building size – Based on the plot plan provided by the applicant, the existing site is 

adequate to accommodate the proposed building expansion. See Attachment B.   

2. Parking– the applicant is requesting a variance to reduce the required parking spaces from 
approximately 210 to 62.  While 46 spaces have typically been adequate to serve the 
school, 62 spaces will help provide additional capacity and help ensure reasonable use of 
the property. 

3. Traffic – Based on the Staff Engineer’s comments, this project would ease some of the 
traffic conflicts and loading of the existing single driveway to 22nd Ave.   The driveways 
proposed will be separated by use, 22nd Ave will be for staff and parents, and a new 
driveway facing Mountain View Road will be for School Bus loading and unloading 
only.  With the District purchasing the corner property adjacent to the school, the new 22nd 
Ave access will be to a larger and more functional space layout, as well as provide onsite 
curb line drop-off space for parents and students.  The driveway entrance will be wider with 
two out-lanes and one in-lane.  The south edge of the 22nd Ave driveway will need to be at 
least 30 feet from the curb radius at the nearby intersection with Mountain View Road.   

4. Noise – Staff has not identified any noise impacts from the surrounding area that would 
negatively impact the proposed, refurbished Junior High School.  

5. Vibration – Staff has not identified any vibration impacts from the surrounding area that 
would negatively impact the proposed Junior High School improvements. 

6. Exhaust and emissions – Staff has not identified any exhaust or emission impacts from the 
surrounding area that would negatively impact the proposed Junior High School 
improvements. 

7. Light and glare – Staff has not identified any light or glare impacts from the surrounding 
area that would negatively impact the proposed Junior High School improvements. 

8. Erosion – Staff has not identified any erosion impacts from the surrounding area that would 
negatively impact the proposed Junior High School improvements. The School property 
contains an existing steep slope that would be considered as a part of development. 

9. Odor – Staff has not identified any odor impacts from the surrounding area that would 
negatively impact the proposed Junior High School improvements. 

10. Dust – Staff identified short-term dust impacts during construction of the proposed Junior 
High School Improvements. 

11. Visibility – Staff has not identified any visibility concerns within the surrounding area that 
would negatively impact the proposed Junior High School improvements. The proposed 
driveway locations would be placed at least the required 30 feet from the intersection of 
Mountain View Road and 22nd Avenue.  

12. Safety – Based on the comments provided by the Staff Engineer, the improvements would 
separate bus traffic from general student drop-off traffic. The improvements to the parking 
area and bus loading area would have an overall positive effect on the neighborhood. Staff 
has not identified any significant safety concerns associated with the subject property or 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 7 

 

surrounding area that would negatively impact the proposed Junior High School 
improvements.  

13. Building, landscaping or street features – Staff has not identified any significant building, 
landscape or street feature concerns associated with the subject property or surrounding 
area that would negatively impact the proposed Junior High School improvements. 

The application complies with this criterion. 

C. Any negative impacts of the proposed use on adjacent properties and on the 
public can be mitigated through application of other code standards, or other 
reasonable conditions of approval that include but are not limited to those listed in 
this chapter. [SHMC 17.80.040(C)] 

Staff Findings: Staff has not identified any significant negative impacts to the neighborhood that 
would occur if this application is approved. Staff’s review of the traffic impacts of the proposal 
are based on the School District being able to substantively separate the bus loading area from 
general parent pick-up and drop-off traffic. Staff thinks that it is reasonable to require the 
applicant to provide signage that is clear and concise and placed so that it is unambiguous that 
the bus loop area is for bus use and staff use only.   

Also, in order to minimize the impact of the school use on neighboring residential properties, 
staff recommends that a condition require that all new exterior lighting shall be located in such a 
manner so as not to face directly, shine or reflect glare onto a street, a highway or a property in 
a residential zone. 

D. All required public facilities have adequate capacity, as determined by the city, to 
serve the proposed use. [SHMC 17.80.040(D)] 

Staff Findings: Both Mountain View Road and 22nd Ave have full city utilities, and are available 
when needed for expansion of the existing services.  For example the new construction of the 
buildings at the west end may have fire hydrant placement requirements (depending on Fire 
Code Standards).  The city sewer main runs along the south boundary of the school property, 
and so doing crosses the adjacent properties at an angle too.  The location will not affect the 
driveway or parking areas.  

The traffic in and out of the Junior High School parking lot has been problematic for some time.  
Transient parking on 22nd Ave – on both sides – have created a need for the city to have 
installed and painted a no parking yellow curb zone on the east side to allow room for buses to 
swing wide as they exit the lot to 22nd Ave.  Parental drop and pick-up of students, happens on 
22nd Ave a lot due to the limited and unavailable parking within the existing lot.   

This project will ease some the traffic conflicts and loading of the existing single driveway to 
22nd Ave.   The driveways proposed will be separated by use, 22nd Ave will be for staff and 
parents, and a new driveway facing Mountain View Road will be for School Bus loading and 
unloading only.  With the District purchasing the corner property adjacent to the school, the new 
22nd Ave access will be to a larger and more functional space layout, as well as provide onsite 
curb line drop-off space for parents and students.  The driveway entrance will be wider with two 
out-lanes and one in-lane.  The south edge of the 22nd Ave driveway will need to be at least 30 
feet from the curb radius at the nearby intersection with Mountain View Road.   

Extensive conversations have been ongoing with the School District for some time leading up to 
this point.  We have evaluated options of driveway splits, driveway locations, and sidewalk 
installations.  A Traffic Impact Study would normally be required for a project such as this, 
however with the capacity and use of the property not changing – same number of students and 
staff that is – City engineering staff felt it would not be needed at this time.  Considering the 
limited number of options, and planned improvements to the traffic separation of buses and 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 8 

 

other vehicles, circulation in and around the school will be improved.   Various bus entrance 
configurations were and may still be looked at, such as right-in right-out, center medians, etc., 
but at the moment the open driveway lanes provides the best clearance for bus turning 
operations.  Signage that is clear and concise should be placed so that it is unambiguous that it 
is for bus only.   

Sweet Home staff will also be working on a 2018 Safe Routes to School (SRTS) grant process 
this summer (Due Oct 15) for street and sidewalk improvements in the area.  The priority of this 
grant is pedestrian safety around and to the school, on Mountain View Road, and the traffic flow 
at the intersection at 22nd Ave.  This grant will include the continuation of sidewalks built as part 
of the school project, southward along Mountain View Road to Ames Creek Road, corner ADA 
ramps, infill behind the existing curb on Ames Creek Road to 18th Ave, and new sidewalks and 
curbs on 18th Ave, so that people do not have to walk in the street.   This grant will also 
evaluate the possibility of a small format traffic circle at Mountain View Road and 22nd Ave to 
slow traffic, and facilitate left turn actions to alleviate backups.   

Overall staff feels that the proposed layout is a good solution to the traffic control issues 
encountered today. Based on the findings above, staff concludes that there is adequate water, 
sewer, storm drainage, and parking services available to support the Sweet Home Junior High 
School improvements. 

E. In approving a conditional use permit application, the Planning Commission may 
impose, in addition to those standards and requirements expressly specified by 
this chapter, additional conditions determined to be necessary to assure that the 
proposed development meets the decision criteria as well as the best interests of 
the surrounding properties, the neighborhood, and the city as a whole.  [SHMC 
17.80.050] 

Staff Findings: This provision of the SHMC allows the Planning Commission to impose 
conditions of approval. This is an opportunity for the Planning Commission to determine if 
conditions are needed in order to ensure compliance with the "decision criteria as well as the 
best interests of the surrounding properties, the neighborhood, and the city as a whole." As 
specified in SHMC 17.80.050, conditions could include, but are not limited to: expanding 
setbacks, limiting hours of operation, requiring site or architectural design features, imposing 
additional sign standards, and so forth.  

Staff recommends the conditions of approval listed in Section V. These conditions are intended 
to ensure that development is consistent with the proposal reviewed in this application and all 
applicable review and decision criteria. Staff proposes conditions of approval that state: 

1. The project footprint shall be limited to substantially the locations reviewed in this 
application (CU18-08). Improvements shall be located in substantially the locations 
depicted on the applicant’s plot plan; included as Attachment B. 

2. All new exterior lighting shall be located in such a manner so as not to face directly, 
shine or reflect glare onto a street, a highway or a property in a residential zone. 

3. The applicant shall provide signage that is clear and concise and placed so that it is 
unambiguous that the bus loop area is for bus use and staff use only. 

While not specifically listed as conditions, the applicant would still need to comply with all 
existing local, state, and federal standards that apply to the application. These standards 
include, but are not limited to the following: 

1. Prior to development, the applicant shall obtain all necessary local, state, and federal 
permits. Permits may include, but are not limited to building, mechanical, and plumbing 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 9 

 

permits from the Sweet Home Building Division; and electrical permits from the Linn 
County Planning and Building Department.  

2. Except as modified under Variance 18-04, parking shall comply with all applicable 
sections of SHMC 17.08.090; including but not limited to all Stormwater drainage, 
surfacing, and dimensional standards. 

3. New buildings and structures shall meet the applicable setback requirements of the R-1 
zone as listed in SHMC 17.24.050. 

F. A conditional use permit shall be void one year after the date of the Planning 
Commission approval if the use has not been substantially established within that 
time period. [SHMC 17.80.070] 

Staff Findings: As required under this section, the conditional use permit shall be void one (1) 
year after the date of the Planning Commission approval if the use has not been substantially 
established, as defined under SHMC 17.80.070(A), within that time period. The City Planner 
may grant one extension of up to one year for a conditional use permit that contained a one 
year initial duration upon written request of the applicant and prior to the expiration of the 
approved period. Requests other than a one year request made prior to the expiration of the 
approved period must be approved by the Planning Commission. A conditional use permit not 
meeting the above time frames will be expired and a new application will be required. 

 

IV.   REVIEW AND DECISION CRITERIA VR 18-04 

The review and decision criteria for a variance are listed below in bold. Staff findings and 
analysis are provided under each review and decision criterion. 

A. The development resulting from an approved variance will not be detrimental to 
public health or safety. [SHMC 17.88.040(A)] 

 
Applicant Findings: the variance proposal is for an auxiliary gymnasium.  It is their intent that 
this gym will improve public health and safety. The proposed gym will provide a better 
environment for exercise and athletics than the multi-purpose space that it will replace.  In 
addition, the proposed site plan for the Junior High School includes a separate bus loop.  
Currently, buses, parents dropping off students, staff members, and visitors parking at the 
Junior High School all share the same parking area.  The proposed design will provide 
separation enhancing safety for vehicle traffic, bicyclists and pedestrians. 

Staff Findings: The Sweet Home Junior High School currently provides 46 parking spaces. The 
existing gymnasium contains 5732 square feet; which alone requires 96 parking spaces 
pursuant to SHMC 17.08.090(H)(9) and (6). So, the School has had a legal, non-conforming 
parking lot that has operated for decades. The new auxiliary gymnasium will increase the 
potential for the property to generate event traffic; however, events tend to occur during non-
peak hours and weekends. Parking will increase overall from 46 to 62, and staff finds that this 
will not be detrimental to public health or safety. The application complies with this criterion 

B. The Request is not in conflict with the Comprehensive Plan [SHMC 17.88.040(B)] 

Applicant Findings: The property is currently Low-Density Residential (R-1) Zone, The 
Comprehensive plan calls out for the property to be Public Zone.   

Staff Findings:  The School District is requesting to use the Low-Density Residential (R-1) zone. 
The proposed parking variance will serve a public school, which is permitted through a 
conditional use permit application process in the R-1 zone. The applicant has concurrently 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 10 

 

submitted CU 18-08. With the conditional use permit approval; this variance will not conflict with 
the Comprehensive Plan.  The application complies with this criterion. 

C. The request is the minimum variance necessary to make reasonable use of the 
property; [SHMC 17.88.040(C)] 

 
Applicant Findings:  the school district is proposing increasing the on-site parking at Sweet 
Home Junior High School by 35 percent from 46 spaces to 62 spaces even though parking 
demand at most times will remain similar to current levels.  While 46 spaces have typically been 
adequate to serve the school, 62 spaces will help provide additional capacity and help ensure 
reasonable use of the property. 

 

Staff Findings:  Staff concurs with the applicant’s findings. 

D. The requested variance is consistent with the purposes of the zone; [SHMC 
17.88.040(D)] 

a. The purpose of the R-1 zone is to provide areas suitable and desirable for 
single-family homes, associated public service uses and duplexes on corner 
lots. The R-1 zone is most appropriate in areas which have developed or will 
develop with single-family homes at a density which warrants provision of 
public water and sewer facilities. [SHMC 17.24.010] 

 
Applicant Findings:  The property is zoned as Low-Density Residential. Since Sweet Home does 
not have a public zone, Sweet Home Junior High, Hawthorne Elementary, Foster Elementary 
and Oak Heights Elementary are all located within the Low-Density Zone. Therefore, we 
consider the requested variance to be consistent with the purpose of the zone. 

Staff Findings:  In an R-1 zone, the following uses and their accessory uses may be permitted 
subject to the provisions of Chapter 17.80:  Public school and private school offering curricula 
similar to public school. [SHMC 17.24.030(G)]. The application complies with this criterion 

E. If more than one variance is requested or needed, the cumulative effect of the 
variances will result in a project that remains consistent with the purposes of the 
zone; [17.88.040(E)]. 

Applicant Findings: Only one variance is being requested. 

Staff Findings: The applicant is requesting a variance to the number of required parking spaces. 
The applicant has not requested an additional variance at this time. 

F. Identified negative impacts resulting from the variance can be mitigated to the 
extent practical; [17.88.040(F)] 

 
Applicant Findings:  In case of a very large event at Sweet Home Junior High, on-street parking 
remains available on 22nd Avenue. Visitors can also park in the school district parking lot located 
north of Husky Stadium and walk along the sidewalk on 22nd Avenue to the Junior High School. 

Staff Findings:  Overall staff finds that the proposed layout is a good solution to the traffic control 
issues encountered today.  Both Mountain View Road and 22nd Ave have full city utilities, and 
are available when needed for expansion of the existing services.  For example the new 
construction of the buildings at the west end may have fire hydrant placement requirements 
(depending on Fire Code Standards).  The City sewer main runs along the south boundary of 
the school property, and so doing crosses the adjacent properties at an angle too.  The location 
will not affect the driveway or parking areas. The traffic in and out of the Junior High School 
parking lot has been problematic for some time.  Transient parking on 22nd Ave – on both sides 
– have created a need for the City to have installed and painted a no parking yellow curb zone 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 11 

 

on the east side to allow room for buses to swing wide as they exit the lot to 22nd Ave.  Parental 
drop and pick-up of students happens on 22nd Ave a lot due to the limited and unavailable 
parking within the existing lot.  This project will ease some the traffic conflicts and loading of the 
existing single driveway to 22nd Ave.   The driveways proposed will be separated by use, 22nd 
Ave will be for staff and parents, and a new driveway facing Mountain View Road will be for 
School Bus loading and unloading only.  With the District purchasing the corner property 
adjacent to the school, the new 22nd Ave access will be to a larger and more functional space 
layout, as well as provide onsite curb line drop-off space for parents and students.  The 
driveway entrance will be wider with two out-lanes and one in-lane.  The south edge of the 22nd 
Ave driveway will need to be at least 30 feet from the curb radius at the nearby intersection with 
Mountain View Road.  Extensive conversations have been ongoing with the School District for 
some time leading up to this point.  We have evaluated options of driveway splits, driveway 
locations, and sidewalk installations.  A Traffic Impact Study would normally be required for a 
project such as this, however with the capacity and use of the property not changing – same 
number of students and staff that is – City engineering staff felt it would not be needed at this 
time.  Considering the limited number of options, and planned improvements to the traffic 
separation of buses and other vehicles, circulation in and around the school will be improved.    

Various bus entrance configurations were and may still be looked at, such as right-in right-out, 
center medians, etc., but at the moment the open driveway lanes provides the best clearance 
for bus turning operations.  Signage that is clear and concise should be placed so that it is 
unambiguous that it is for bus and staff use only. Staff thinks that is advisable to allow staff use 
of the bus loop, since the School District may increase parking in that area in the future. An 
increase of staff parking in the bus loop area would increase the overall parking capacity at the 
School. 

  Sweet Home staff will also be working on a 2018 Safe Routes to School (SRTS) grant process 
this summer (Due Oct 15) for street and sidewalk improvements in the area.  The priority of this 
grant is pedestrian safety around and to the school, on Mountain View Road, and the traffic flow 
at the intersection at 22nd Ave.  This grant will include the continuation of sidewalks built as part 
of the school project, southward along Mountain View Road to Ames Creek Road, corner ADA 
ramps, infill behind the existing curb on Ames Creek Road to 18th Ave, and new sidewalks and 
curbs on 18th Ave, so that people do not have to walk in the street.   This grant will also evaluate 
the possibility of a small format traffic circle at Mountain View Road and 22nd Ave to slow traffic, 
and facilitate left turn actions to alleviate backups.  

With a condition that requires the applicant to provide at least the 62 parking spaces proposed, 
staff has not identified any significant negative impacts that would result from the variance  

 
G. The location, size, design characteristics and other features of the proposal shall 

have minimal adverse impacts on property values, livability of the permitted 
development in the surrounding area, and the natural environment; [17.88.040(G). 

 
Applicant Findings: Every effort will be made so the Junior High School renovation project 
serves as an asset for the surrounding area.  The district intends to take steps including 
replacing the existing structure’s exterior siding and windows to help improve the schools curb 
appeal.  Likewise, parking, sidewalks, and landscaping features will also be designed to 
complement the surrounding area. 

Staff Findings:  Staff concurs with the applicant’s findings. The application complies with this 
criterion. 

H. The property has a physical circumstance or condition that makes it difficult to 
develop. [17.88.040(H)] 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 12 

 

 
Applicant Findings:  Sweet Home Junior High School has a steep slope on its north side and 
roads on its east and south sides making it difficult to develop additional parking lots without 
giving up needed field space west of the school. 

Staff Findings:  The Junior High School is located on a portion of School District property that 
abuts a steep slope. This slope limits the number of parking spaces available in close proximity 
to the school when considering the school’s other need for space; including fields. Staff finds 
that the existing slope on the property makes it difficult to develop.  

I. A variance shall be void one year, or other time specifically set by the Planning 
Commission, after the date of the Planning Commission approval if the development 
has not been substantially established within that time period. [SHMC 17.88.060] 

Staff Findings: As required under this section, if this application is approved, the variance shall 
be void one (1) year after the date of the Planning Commission approval if the use has not been 
substantially established, as defined under SHMC 17.88.060, within that time period.  

 

V. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the findings above, staff concludes that the conditional use permit proposal CU18-08 
and the variance permit proposal VR 18-04 comply with the all of the applicable review and 
decision criteria. If the Planning Commission approves this application, staff recommends that 
the conditions of approval listed below be required in order to ensure that the application is 
consistent with the findings in the Review and Decision Criteria (Sections III and IV) and as 
required by the Sweet Home Municipal Code and other provisions of law. Appeals to the Land 
Use Board of Appeals (LUBA) may only be based on Review and Decision Criteria contained in 
Sections III and IV.  

Recommended Conditions of Approval for CU 18-08 and VR 18-04: 

1. The project footprint shall be limited to substantially the locations reviewed in application 
CU18-08. Improvements shall be located in substantially the locations depicted on the 
applicant’s plot plan; included as Attachment A. 

2. All new exterior lighting shall be located in such a manner so as not to face directly, shine or 
reflect glare onto a street, a highway or a property in a residential zone. 

3. The applicant shall provide signage that is clear and concise and placed so that it is 
unambiguous that the bus loop area is for bus use and staff use only. 

4. When completed, Sweet Home Junior High shall contain at least 62 off-street parking 
spaces. 

 

VI. PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION 

In taking action on a conditional use permit application, the Planning Commission will hold a 
public hearing at which it may either approve or deny the application.  If the application is 
denied, the action must be based on the applicable review and decision criteria. If approved, the 
Planning Commission may impose conditions of approval.  Staff’s recommended conditions are 
included in Section V. 

Appeal Period: Staff’s recommendation is that the Planning Commission’s decision on this 
matter be subject to a 12-day appeal period from the date that the notice of decision is mailed.  

Order: After the Planning Commission makes a decision, staff recommends that the Planning 



 

 
Staff Report for Conditional Use Permit Application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 13 

 

Commission direct staff to prepare an order that is signed by the Chairperson of the Planning 
Commission. The Order would memorialize the decision and provide the official list of conditions 
(if any) that apply to the approval; if the application is approved. 

Motion: 

After opening the public hearing and receiving testimony, the Planning Commission’s options 
include the following: 

1. Move to approve application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04; adopting the findings of fact listed 
in Section III and IV of the Staff Report, including the conditions of approval listed in 
Section V of the Staff Report, the setting of a 12-day appeal period from the date of the 
mailing of the decision, and direct staff to prepare an order to be signed by the Chair to 
memorialize this decision. 

2. Move to deny application CU 18-08 and VR 18-04; (specify findings of fact supporting 
the denial) including the setting of a 12-day appeal period from the date of mailing of the 
decision, and direct staff to prepare an order to be signed by the Chair to memorialize 
this decision. 
 

3. Move to continue the public hearing to a date and time certain (specify); or 

4. Other. 

 

VII. ATTACHMENTS 

 

A. Plot Plan (Proposed Schematic Site Plan) 

B. Aerial Photograph of Project Location 

C. Record as of June 25, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 



CU 18-08 and VR 18-04 Proposed Site Plan 
 

jsorte
Typewriter
Attachment A



887

2261
2253

22452237
2221

2211

2204

829

851 855

857859861

890

767
2231

740

635

703

707

1840 1850 1860 1870 1876 1880 1888 1890
2000

2010

706

620

616

61418951885187518651826

880

1836

953

1899

MOUNTAIN

IRONWOOD   ST

GRAPE ST

RD

VIEW

22ND AVE873 18TH AVE

861 18TH AVE

740 23RD AVE
829 18TH AVE

851 18TH AVE

887 22ND AVE

1890 GRAPE ST1888 GRAPE ST1876 GRAPE ST

1850 GRAPE ST1840 GRAPE ST

1899 GRAPE LOOP

2221 IRONWOOD ST
2245 IRONWOOD ST

2204 IRONWOOD ST

635 MOUNTAIN VIEW RD
614 MOUNTAIN VIEW RD

703 MOUNTAIN VIEW RD

616 MOUNTAIN VIEW RD

890 MOUNTAIN VIEW RD

± 1 inch = 150 feet
CU 18-08 and VR 18-04
Sweet Home Junior High

13S01E32CB Tax Lots 100 and 800
Date: 6/12/2018

Existing Junior High Building

jsorte
Typewriter
Attachment B



jsorte
Typewriter
Attachment C






































































































	Agenda
	Minutes June 4, 2018 (Draft)
	Minutes June 18, 2018 (Draft)
	CU 18-04SR (Full).pdf
	Staff Report
	Attachment A
	Attachment B

	CU 18-08 VR 18-04SR (Full).pdf
	Staff Report
	Attachment A - Site Plan
	Attachment B - Aerial Photo
	Attachment C - Record 6-25-18




